#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DARIUS JAMINE POLITE,

CASE NO. SC10-1812

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review From the District Court of Appeal Fifth District

WILLIAM R. PONALL Florida Bar No. 421634

WARREN W. LINDSEY Florida Bar No. 299111

KIRKCONNELL, LINDSEY, SNURE & PONALL, P.A.
1150 Louisiana Avenue, Suite 1
P.O. Box 2728
Winter Park, FL 32790-2728
Telephone: (407) 644-7600
Facsimile: (407) 645-0805
Attorneys for Petitioner

#

# STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3), and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), because the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal is in direct and express conflict with decisions of other district courts of appeal and with a decision of this Court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Darius Jamine Polite was charged by Information with Burglary of a Dwelling with an Assault or Battery (Count One), Robbery with a Firearm (Count Two), two counts of Aggravated Assault with a Firearm (Counts Three and Four), and Possession of a Firearm by a Convicted Felon (Count Five). (R1 at 34). The charged offenses arose out of an alleged incident on July 14, 2008, in which three black males allegedly broke into the home of Falisa Levine and her two children and attempted to rob them at gunpoint. (5DCA at 12-13).

Ms. Levine appeared at trial but expressed great reluctance about testifying. She testified that she did not identify or tell

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to the Trial Court Record on Appeal will be indicated as follows: (R1 at 50 = Page 50, Volume 1 of the Record on Appeal); (TT1 at 50 = Page 50, Volume 1 of the Trial Transcripts). Citations to the Record on Appeal of the Fifth District Court of Appeal will be indicated as follows: (5DCA at 12 = Page 12 of the Record on Appeal of the Fifth District Court of Appeal).

the police the name of the person who had committed the offenses against her. (TT1 at 31-33). She also repeatedly testified that she could not remember the specific details of the alleged incident. (TT at 40-41).

The State showed Ms. Levine a written statement she allegedly provided to the police on the night of the alleged incident. Although Ms. Levine testified that she had written the statement, she never testified that the written statement accurately reflected the facts she allegedly observed on the date of the charged offenses or that she was being truthful at the time she wrote the statement. (TT1 at 31-46). In fact, Ms. Levine actually testified that she may have made a mistake when she wrote the statement because the police were pressuring her when she wrote it. (TT1 at 49).

Immediately prior to the State attempting to introduce Ms. Levine's written statement into evidence by having her read it to the jury, Mr. Polite's trial counsel stated the following: "Objection, your honor. This is improper predicate." (TT1 at 34).

Mr. Polite objected again when the State attempted to establish the predicate for the statement's admissibility, specifically indicating that the exception for "past recollection recorded" was at issue, and contending that the State could not introduce the statement into evidence. In direct response to Mr. Polite's objection, the State argued that the statement was

admissible pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 90.803(5). In overruling Mr. Polite's objection, the trial court also specifically addressed § 90.803(5) and the necessity that a proper foundation be established prior to the admissibility of evidence pursuant to that hearsay exception. (TT1 at 42-43).

Additionally, Mr. Polite objected to the introduction of Ms. Levine's written statement as substantive evidence on the basis that he could not cross-examine the document and that he was being deprived of his right to confrontation. The trial court referenced Fla. Stat. § 90.803(5) and overruled Mr. Polite's objection. (TT1 at 43-44). Later in the trial, both the trial court and the State again indicated that Ms. Levine's statement was admitted pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 90.803(5). (TT2 at 209, 210).

The State proceeded to read the written statement to the jury.

The statement was read as follows:

Falisa Levine, was coming out of my I, bathroom when I heard a loud bang. I looked into my kitchen and noticed three black men entering the door by kicking it in. Two men I did not recognize, one I did only knowing him Darius. Darius I know from Darius then told me to get on neighborhood. the ground and also had handgun to head. When I screamed his name, Darius, he then said to other guys, we have the wrong house. One guy took my purse and Darius told him to put it back. The guys then ran out the door. Only two of the guys had handguns. Third guy did not. One of the guys did put handgun on kids. That is the guy that had his face covered up. The third guy came in after other two guys had already entered not doing anything but

looking around. I then asked Darius why he is doing this and he said that he has the wrong house. He then walked outside leaving yard as walked behind to see how they traveling. I do know that this is Darius as soon as he entered my home. After that Darius then called my name. All the suspects left. I then tried to call police and phone line would not work. Second suspect did put purse on the shoulder and took my money totaling \$250 out of my purse. That's when Darius told him to put it back because this is like family.

First suspect 6'2, 200 pound black male; second suspect, 5'2, 130 pound, black male; third suspect, 5'2 130 pound black male.

Sworn to and subscribed before me, this 14th day of July, 2008. Deputy Sheriff Brissette. I swear/affirm the above attached statements are correct and true, Falisa Levine.

(TT1 at 47-48).

On cross-examination, Ms. Levine testified that she could have made a mistake when she completed the written statement, because she was being pressured at the time she wrote it. (TT1 at 49).

Detective Robert Branch, of the Orange County Sheriff's Office, also provided testimony. Detective Branch testified that he responded to Ms. Levine's residence on July 14, 2008, and spoke with Ms. Levine and her children. Detective Branch testified that Ms. Levine identified Mr. Polite as one of the people who entered her home. Mr. Polite objected to Detective Branch's testimony about Ms. Levine's identification, but that objection was overruled. (TT1 at 73-76).

The State sought to introduce the testimony of Detective

Branch concerning an identification Ms. Levine allegedly made of Mr. Polite from a photo lineup and the photo lineup itself. Mr. Polite objected to the introduction of that evidence. The trial court reserved ruling on Mr. Polite's objection, indicating that the court needed to review the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in Deans v. State, 988 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 5th DCA 2008). (TT1 at 76-81, 101).

The trial court subsequently permitted this evidence to be admitted. Mr. Polite argued that the evidence was inadmissible because Ms. Levine never testified to making the out-of-court identification in question. (TT1 at 188-191).

At the close of the State's case, Mr. Polite moved for a judgment of acquittal on all of the charged offenses. (TT2 at 202-07). The trial court granted the motion on Count Three, but denied it as to the remaining counts of the Information. (TT2 at 211).

During closing argument, the State again read Falisa Levine's written statement to the jury. (TT2 at 236-37). The State also noted for the jury that Ms. Levine made an out-of-court identification of Mr. Polite from a photo lineup. (TT2 at 239).

The jury found Mr. Polite guilty as charged on Counts One, Two, Four, and Five of the Information. (R1 at 109-117). The trial court found Mr. Polite to a be a Prison Releasee Reoffender and sentenced him to concurrent sentences of life in prison on Counts One and Two of the Information, and to concurrent lesser

sentences on the remaining counts. (R1 at 16-17).

Mr. Polite appealed his convictions to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. In that appeal, Mr. Polite argued, that (I) the trial court erred in admitting Ms. Levine's written statement into evidence pursuant to the past recollection recorded hearsay exception contained in Fla. Stat. § 90.803(5); and (II) that the trial court had erred in admitting evidence concerning Ms. Levine's alleged out-of-court identification of Mr. Polite from a photo lineup. (5DCA at A).

As to Issue I, Mr. Polite argued that the State had failed to establish the proper predicate to admit Ms. Levine's written statement pursuant to § 90.803(5), because Ms. Levine never testified that the statement accurately represented her knowledge at the time it was made or that she was being truthful at the time she wrote it. As to Issue II, Mr. Polite argued that the State was precluded from introducing evidence of Ms. Levine's alleged out-of-court identification of Mr. Polite, because the State failed to ask her questions about that issue during its direct examination of her. (5DCA at A).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal issued a written opinion affirming Mr. Polite's convictions. (5DCA at 12). On Issue I, the Fifth District held that Mr. Polite did not properly preserve for appellate review the specific argument he made on appeal. (5DCA at 18).

The Fifth District also held, however, that even if Issue I was properly preserved for appeal, the State had presented sufficient evidence to support the admission of Ms. Levine's statement pursuant to § 90.803(5). (5DCA at 18-22). The Fifth District acknowledged that the decisions of the district courts in Hernandez v. State, 31 So.3d 873 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010), Smith v. State, 880 So.2d 730 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), and Montano v. State, 846 So.2d 677 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), supported Mr. Polite's argument. The Fifth District, however, expressed disagreement with those cases, concluding that they were decided contrary to the plain language of the statute. (5DCA at 18-20).

The Fifth District relied on decisions of various federal courts and decisions made by appellate courts in other states to support its conclusion that the aforementioned decisions of the Second District and Fourth District were incorrect. (5DCA at 19-20). The Fifth District concluded as follows:

Given the totality of the circumstances, including that the witness swore to the statement as true at the time she gave it; that she was still consumed with the emotions of the event when talking to police; and that other evidence corroborated her statement, we find that there was sufficient evidence to lay a foundation for admission of the statement under section 90.803(5), even though the declarant herself never confirmed the accuracy of the statement at trial.

(5DCA at 22).

On Issue II, the Fifth District held that, during its

direction examination of Ms. Levine, the State asked her general questions about whether she had identified the person who had committed the offense against her. The Fifth District concluded that those questions were broad enough to allow Mr. Polite to cross-examine Ms. Levine about her out-of-court identification of Mr. Polite from a photo lineup. (5DCA at 22-24).

Mr. Polite filed a timely Motion for Rehearing and Certification. (5DCA at 29). The Fifth District denied that motion. (5DCA at 41).

Mr. Polite filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction in the Fifth District (5DCA at 43) and a Jurisdictional Brief in this Court, asserting that the decision of the Fifth District is in express and direct conflict with decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal. This Court accepted jurisdiction.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court improperly admitted hearsay evidence at trial when it permitted the alleged victim's written statement into evidence and when it permitted evidence to be admitted concerning the alleged victim's out-of-court identification of Mr. Polite from a photo lineup. The State failed to establish that the alleged victim's written statement was admissible as past recollection recorded because the alleged victim did not verify its accuracy at the time of trial. The State should not have been permitted to introduce testimony from a detective about the alleged victim's identification of Mr. Polite from a photo lineup, because the State failed to question the alleged victim about that specific identification on direct examination.

## ARGUMENT

This Court accepted jurisdiction based on a direct and express conflict between the decision of the Fifth District with decisions of other district courts of appeal and with a decision of this Court. Once this Court accepts jurisdiction of a case in order to resolve a conflict, it has the authority to address all the issues properly raised in the lower court. Russell v. State, 982 So.2d 642, 645 (Fla. 2008); Savoie v. State, 422 So.2d 308, 310 (Fla. 1982).

I. THE ALLEGED VICTIM'S WRITTEN STATEMENT WAS **IMPROPERLY** ADMITTED EVIDENCE BECAUSE STATE INTO THE FAILED ESTABLISH THE PREDICATE FOR THE RECOLLECTION PAST RECORDED EXCEPTION FOR HEARSAY.

The trial court erred in admitting into evidence Falisa Levine's written statement. The written statement was not properly admitted as a past recollection recorded pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 90.803(5), because Ms. Levine never testified that the statement accurately represented her knowledge at the time it was made or that she was being truthful at the time she wrote it.

Initially, the Fifth District's conclusion that this issue was not properly preserved for appellate review at trial is not supported by the record or the applicable law. Immediately prior to the State attempting to introduce Ms. Levine's written statement into evidence by having her read it to the jury, Mr. Polite's trial counsel stated the following: "Objection, your honor. This is improper predicate." (TT1 at 34).

By making this objection, Mr. Polite explicitly indicated that the proper foundation for admissibility of the written statement pursuant to § 90.803(5) had not been elicited. The purpose of the contemporaneous objection rule is to provide both the trial judge and the opposing party with notice of the deficiency that exists so that they have the opportunity to cure the problem if possible. Here, although the State was put on notice of the failure to establish the proper predicate for admissibility, it was still unable to elicit the information necessary to justify admission of the evidence pursuant to § 90.803(5). Mr. Polite's "predicate"

objection was more than sufficient to preserve the issue for appellate review.

Even if the "improper predicate" objection was not sufficient on its own to preserve the issue for appellate review, Mr. Polite's various objections to the introduction of Ms. Levine's written statement were sufficient to do so. Mr. Polite's countless objections to the admission of this piece of evidence clearly conveyed to both the trial court and the State that he believed that the evidence in question was inadmissible hearsay and that the hearsay exception for past recollection recorded found in § 90.803(5) did not apply.

This Court has explicitly held that a general hearsay objection is sufficient to preserve for appellate review a party's failure to the lay the proper predicate for admissibility. See Andrews v. State, 261 So.2d 497, 498 (Fla. 1972). The district courts have followed suit. See e.g. Carter v. State, 951 So.2d 939, 942-43 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007) (general hearsay objection sufficient to preserve for appellate review State's failure to lay proper predicate for admissibility of evidence pursuant to hearsay objection for business records); Richardson v. State, 875 So.2d 673, 676 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004) (same).

Moreover, to preserve an error involving a ruling concerning the admission of evidence, a timely objection stating the specific ground for the objection must only be made **if the specific ground** 

is not apparent from the context. See Fla. Stat. § 90.104(1)(a); See also Woods v. State, 733 So.2d 980, 987 (Fla. 1999) ("vague" objection preserved hearsay issue when basis was clear from context); Vanevery v. State, 980 So.2d 1105, 1107 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008) (same); Neeley v. State, 883 So.2d 861, 864 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004) (general hearsay objection properly preserves for appeal all hearsay violations, exceptions, and exclusions, including insufficient predicate).

Mr. Polite's various objections to the admissibility of Ms. Levine's written statement and the trial court's repeated discussion of § 90.803(5) clearly indicate that the specific grounds for his objection was apparent from the context of the trial. This issue was properly preserved for appellate review.

Next, the Fifth District's conclusion that the State established the proper foundation for the admissibility of Ms. Levine's statement pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 90.803(5) is also in error. Despite the district court's conclusion to the contrary, the admission of hearsay testimony pursuant to § 90.803(5) requires that the declarant personally vouch for the accuracy of his or her prior out-of-court statement at the time of trial.

The Fifth District's conclusion to the contrary is in direct opposition to the decisions of the district courts in Hernandez v. State, 31 So.3d 873 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010), Smith v. State, 880 So.2d 730 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), and Montano v. State, 846 So.2d 677 (Fla.

4th DCA 2003). In all three of those cases, the district courts held that a witness' prior recorded out-of-court statement is not admissible at trial unless the witness personally testifies at trial that the statement was accurate at the time it was made. Hernandez, 31 So.3d at 878; Smith, 880 So.2d at 736; Montano, 846 So.2d at 681-82.

"Unlike exceptions to the rule against hearsay which derive their ability from the circumstances that surround the making of an out-of-court statement, the reliability of a recorded recollection depends on the credibility of its maker." *Montano*, 846 So.2d at 681. In *Garrett v. Morris Kirschman & Co.*, 336 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1976), this Court concluded as follows:

When a witness identifies as such a writing made contemporaneously (or nearly so) with events as to which testimony is elicited, and testifies that he knew at the time it was written that it was accurate, he incorporates into his testimony by reference the record or past recollection. On this basis, the writing becomes admissible since it is supported by the witness' oath, and he is available for cross-examination. If the writing is by another, it may be admitted notwithstanding the rule against hearsay. As with any other exception to the hearsay rule, however, it is necessary that the predicate be established for the exemption for the rule.

336 So.2d at 570 n.6 (emphasis added). Although this Court issued its opinion in *Garrett* prior to the Florida legislature's adoption of the evidence code and § 90.803(5), the adoption of that statute did not change the state of Florida law or the requirement that the

witness acknowledge the accuracy of his or her prior statement through testimony at trial. See Montano, 846 So.2d at 682.

The conclusion of this Court in Garrett, and the district courts in Hernandez, Montano, and Smith, finds further support from various authorities on evidence. Professor Ehrhardt indicates that the foundation for admissibility under § 90.803(5) requires "testimony that the witness remembers making an accurate recording of the fact or event or by testimony that the witness is confident that the facts would not have been written unless they were true." Charles W. Ehrhardt, Ehrhardt's Florida Evidence, § 803.5 at 873 (2010 ed.). McCormick on Evidence also indicates that in order to establish admissibility under Federal Rule of Evidence 803(5), the federal hearsay exception for past recollection recorded, "the witness must acknowledge at trial the accuracy of the statement." Kenneth S. Broun, McCormick on Evidence, § 283 (2009 ed.). may be accomplished by a statement that the person presently remembers recording the fact correctly or remembers recognizing the statement as accurate at an earlier time." Id.

Moreover, despite the Fifth District's reliance on various cases from outside Florida to support its decision, it is readily apparent that the cases it cited do not reflect the prevailing rule. The New Mexico Supreme Court, the Alabama Supreme Court, the Ohio Supreme Court, and the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals are among the various courts that have concluded that the hearsay

exception for past recollection recorded requires the declarant to personally vouch for the accuracy of his or her prior out-of-court statement at the time of trial. State v. Macias, 210 P.3d 804, 815 (N.M. 2009); Lindley v. State, 728 So.2d 1153, 1156 (Ala. 1998); State v. Scott, 285 N.Ed.2d 344, 348 (Ohio 1972); United States v. Collicott, 92 F.3d 973, 984 (9th Cir. 1996).

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