### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DARIUS JAMINE POLITE,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-1812

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

### ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

\_\_\_\_\_/

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KRISTEN L. DAVENPORT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #909130

WESLEY HEIDT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #773026 444 Seabreeze Blvd. Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>: The trial court acted within its discretion in allowing the State to introduce the prior sworn statement of the victim, and the district court correctly affirmed that decision. In light of the plain language of the statute governing this issue, the victim's testimony adequately established a foundation for the admission of this evidence, and any claim to the contrary was not properly preserved below. At worst any error was harmless.

<u>ISSUE II</u>: The trial court acted within its discretion in allowing the State to introduce evidence regarding the out-ofcourt identification of the Defendant where the victim picked him out of a photo line-up, and the district court correctly affirmed that decision. The Defendant had the opportunity to cross-examine the victim regarding this identification, and he took advantage of this opportunity. At worst any error was harmless.

#### ARGUMENT

# ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE THE VICTIM'S SWORN STATEMENT TO THE POLICE.

The Defendant contends that the trial court erred in allowing the State to introduce into evidence the victim's sworn statement to the police. The district court properly concluded that the Defendant's argument was not preserved below and is without merit. <u>Polite v. State</u>, 41 So. 3d 935, 939-41 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2010).

### Preservation

To properly preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must make a timely contemporaneous objection in the trial court, stating the legal grounds for that objection and making the same specific argument in the trial court that is raised on appeal. <u>Sanchez v. State</u>, 909 So. 2d 981, 984 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005). Here, the Defendant is not making the same legal argument that he made in the trial court.

At trial, the Defendant objected to the admission of the victim's statement for several different reasons. He contended that this written statement was admissible only to refresh the witness's recollection, unless the Defendant himself chose to

б

admit it. He further argued that admitting this statement would violate his Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses. Finally, he argued that the State was using the document to impeach its own witness, which is improper. (T. 42-46).

On appeal, and in this Court, the Defendant raises a different argument, contending that the written statement was inadmissible because the victim never testified that the statement accurately represented her knowledge at the time it was made or that she was being truthful at the time she wrote This *specific* argument was never raised below, it. and accordingly it was not properly raised for the first time on See Couzo v. State, 830 So. 2d 177, 179 (Fla.  $4^{\text{th}}$  DCA appeal. 2002) ("The objection 'lack of foundation,' like its first cousin 'improper predicate,' is not a 'specific ground of objection' ... so as to preserve a ruling admitting evidence for appellate review"), rev. denied, 842 So. 2d 843 (Fla. 2003).

Indeed, as Judge Torpy noted in his concurring opinion below, this case represents a quintessential example of a situation where, had the proper objection been lodged below, any missing information could have been fully explored with the witness, rather than second-guessed on appeal. 41 So. 3d at

943. The district court properly concluded that this claim was not preserved for appeal.

### Argument

Even if this claim had been preserved, it is without merit. A recorded recollection, defined as follows, is admissible as evidence:

A memorandum or record concerning a matter about which a witness once had knowledge, but now has insufficient recollection to enable the witness to testify fully and accurately, shown to have been made by the witness when the matter was fresh in the witness's memory and to reflect that knowledge correctly.

§ 90.803(5), Fla. Stat.

Here, the victim testified that three men came to her house, kicked the door open, and put a gun to her daughter's face. (T. 37-38). She stated that she could not remember any more details. (T. 31-32, 40). Clearly, then, this event was "a matter about which a witness once had knowledge, but now has insufficient recollection to enable the witness to testify fully and accurately."

Further, the victim identified the written statement as the statement she gave to police on the day of the crime, approximately one hour after the events took place. (T. 41-42). She testified that she told the police what happened when they came to her house, as did her children. (T. 32-33). Although

she gave no verbal answer at trial when asked if the statement was true and correct, as defense counsel interrupted with an objection, quickly withdrawn (T.42), she swore/affirmed that the statement was true at the time she gave it (T. 48). Clearly, then, the statement was "shown to have been made by the witness when the matter was fresh in the witness's memory and to reflect that knowledge correctly."<sup>1</sup>

In support of his argument that testimony from the victim affirmatively adopting the earlier statement was required before the statement could be admitted, the Defendant relies on the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Montano v.</u> <u>State</u>, 846 So. 2d 677 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003). There, the court concluded that a witness's statement to the police was not properly admitted at trial where the witness never testified that her taped statement accurately reflected her knowledge of the incident at the time it was made or that she tried to be truthful at the time she spoke to the deputy. Id. at 681.

In light of these omissions, the court concluded, the statement did not have an adequate foundation, as "the law

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Although the witness later agreed, on cross-examination, that the statement could have been mistaken (T. 49), this back-tracking by the witness affected the weight to be given to the statement, not its admissibility.

requires the maker to adopt the recorded recollection as his own" before such a statement can be admitted. <u>Id.</u> at 682.

Here, of course, the victim specifically testified that this statement was the sworn statement she had given to police on the day of the crime (T. 41-42), and she specifically testified that she told the police what happened when she spoke to them that day (T. 32-33). In light of the difficulty this witness had in testifying, as well as the fact that she specifically swore that the statement was true at the time she made it, when the events were fresh in her memory (T. 48), the State submits that this was sufficient to allow the trial court to conclude that the victim did, indeed, adopt the recorded recollection as her own to the extent necessary to satisfy the statute.

To the extent <u>Montano</u> requires even more than that, it has gone well beyond the plain language of the statute governing this hearsay exception and should be disapproved by this Court. <u>See Kimbrough v. State</u>, 846 So. 2d 540, 544 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA) (finding that Florida Supreme Court precedent required "testimony establishing *either* the witness's recollection of having made the statement, *or*, if the witness has no specific recollection, testimony from the witness that the statement

accurately reflects what was said at the time") (emphasis added), rev. dismissed, 859 So. 2d 515 (Fla. 2003).

As the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals has recognized in considering the similar federal rule:

Rule 803(5) does not specify any particular method of establishing the knowledge of the declarant nor the accuracy of the statement. It is not a sine qua non of admissibility that the witness actually vouch for the accuracy of the written memorandum. Admissibility is, instead, to be determined on a case-by-case basis upon a consideration, as was done by the district court in this case, of factors indicating trustworthiness, or the lack thereof.

While Rule 803(5) treats recorded recollection as an exception to the hearsay rule, the hearsay is not of a particularly unreliable genre. This is because the out-of-court declarant is actually on the witness stand and subject to evaluation by the finder of fact, in this case the jury. If the jury chose to believe what [the witness] said in the recorded statement rather than what she said while testifying, that decision was at least made based upon what it observed and heard from her in court.

<u>United States v. Porter</u>, 986 F.2d 1014, 1017 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir.), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 510 U.S. 933 (1993). <u>See also</u> <u>State v. Marcy</u>, 680 A.2d 76, 78-81 (Vt. 1996) (following Porter).

Indeed, even courts explicitly acknowledging that the best means of satisfying this exception is for the witness to confirm the accuracy of the out-of-court statement recognize that all circumstances must be considered in evaluating this matter:

ſΑ commentator] notes that the ideal foundation consists of witness testimony that he or she "presently remembers that he [or shel correctly recorded the fact or that he [or she] recognizes the writing as accurate."

But what is ideal in theory may be some distance from what is possible in practice. [The quoted commentator] implicitly acknowledges this, noting that a witness' testimony that he or she habitually records matters accurately, or would not have signed an inaccurate memorandum, may be sufficient in lieu of an ideal foundation. The facts of a particular case may not allow even this much, however, and we conclude the rule does not require it. Indeed, the rule applies regardless of the declarant's availability to testify, and thus apparently does not contemplate that the declarant will always testify, let alone affirmatively vouch for the record's accuracy. We therefore must decide how best to gauge whether the rule has been satisfied in any given case.

\* \* \*

We agree with the Porter court's observation that the rule prescribes no particular method of establishing accuracy, and that the issue must be resolved on a case-by-case basis. We hold that the requirement that а recorded recollection accurately reflect the may be satisfied without witness' knowledge the witness' direct averment of accuracy at trial. The court must examine the totality of the circumstances, including (1) whether the witness disavows accuracy; (2) whether the witness averred accuracy at the time of making the statement; (3) whether the recording process is reliable; and (4) whether other indicia of

reliability establish the trustworthiness of the statement.

<u>State v. Alvarado</u>, 949 P.2d 831, 835-36 (Wash. Ct. App.) (citations and footnote omitted), <u>rev. denied</u>, 960 P.2d 937 (Wash. 1998). <u>See also Pickett v. United States</u>, 822 A.2d 404, 406 (D.C. 2003) (noting that witness must confirm accuracy of recorded statement, but "unless the witness has expressly repudiated it on the stand the trial judge may consider all of the circumstances in finding the requisite confirmation, including the demeanor of the witness in court – evincing, for example, hostility or *reluctance to testify* – as well as the conditions under which the out-of-court statement was made") (emphasis added).

Applying common sense and the plain language of the statute, the testimony of the victim was sufficient to satisfy the statutory requirement that the statement reflected her knowledge correctly. The Defendant's argument that this conclusion somehow violated his Sixth Amendment right to confrontation, raised for the first time in this Court, has no merit. "[W]hen the declarant appears for cross-examination at trial, the Confrontation Clause places *no constraints at all on the use of his prior testimonial statements."* <u>Crawford v.</u> Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 59 n. 9 (2004) (emphasis added).

The trial court acted well within its discretion in allowing the State to introduce this statement as a recorded recollection, and the district court properly affirmed the trial court's ruling. Its decision should be approved by this Court. Harmless Error

Finally, even if this statement should not have been admitted, any error was harmless. The victim testified directly that three men kicked her door in and entered her house shortly before 8 am on the morning of July 14. Police officers verified the damage to her house, and a video camera captured images of the three men arriving at the house and then departing shortly thereafter. The Defendant's GPS monitoring device placed him at the victim's house during this time period, yet he vehemently denied being there when questioned by police, and he fled when they went to apprehend him.

In light of this other significant evidence of guilt, as well as the Defendant's successful demonstration of the victim's reluctance to accuse him and impeachment of her statement, there is no reasonable possibility that this alleged error affected the jury's verdict. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986). The Defendant's convictions and sentence were properly affirmed.

#### ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE TESTIMONY REGARDING THE VICTIM'S IDENTIFICATION OF THE DEFENDANT.

As his second point, the Defendant contends that the trial court erred in allowing the State to introduce evidence regarding the victim's out-of-court identification of the Defendant from a photographic line-up. This claim was raised in the district court and briefly addressed in the court's opinion. <u>Polite</u>, 41 So. 3d at 941-42. Notably, the court's ruling on this issue was <u>not</u> raised as a basis for jurisdiction in this case. While this Court has jurisdiction to consider this issue, it is certainly not required to do so.

If this Court chooses to address this issue, it should affirm the lower court's analysis, as its decision is fully supported by the record and legally correct. <u>Id.</u>

### Preservation

To the extent the Defendant complains about the admission of the line-up itself, this claim was properly preserved below. (T. 78-81). To the extent the Defendant complains about the testimony of Detective Branch, explaining that the victim picked the Defendant out of the line-up, there was no timely objection

below (T. 75-76) and accordingly this claim was not properly preserved for appeal.

### Argument

This claim is also without merit. In <u>Deans v. State</u>, the Fifth District Court of Appeal held that testimony regarding an out-of-court identification is not admissible where the witness who made the identification is "not asked on direct examination to identify the defendant or about their out-of-court identification of the co-perpetrators." 988 So. 2d 1271, 1272 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2008). In the absence of such questions on direct examination, the court reasoned, a defendant is precluded from cross-examining the witness about the identification, and the out-of-court identification accordingly does not fall under the hearsay exception for such matters. Id.<sup>2</sup>

Here, however, the victim **was** asked about her out-of-court identification of the Defendant, first denying making such an identification (T. 33) and later admitting that she made the written statement introduced into evidence (T. 32-34, 41-42), in which she identified the Defendant by name and said she knew him from the neighborhood (T. 47).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Section 90.801(2)(c), Florida Statutes, provides that "[a] statement is not hearsay if the declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the

As the lower court recognized, this direct examination was "broad enough to allow Polite's counsel to cross-examine the witness regarding both her initial out-of-court identification and the later identification when shown a photo line-up." Polite, 41 So. 3d at 942. Indeed, the record reflects that the Defendant did have the opportunity to cross-examine the victim about the out-of-court identification, and he took advantage of this opportunity, getting her to admit that she did not know if she "got the right person." (T. 49). Cf. Zerquera v. State, 549 So. 2d 189, 192 (Fla. 1989) ("[W]hen the direct examination opens a general subject, the cross-examination may go into any phase, and may not be restricted to mere parts ... or to the specific facts developed by the direct examination. Crossexamination should always be allowed relative to the details of an event or transaction a portion only of which has been testified to on direct examination. As has been stated, crossexamination is not confined to the identical details testified to in chief, but extends to its entire subject matter, and to all matters that may modify, supplement, contradict, rebut or make clearer the facts testified to in chief.") (quotation omitted).

statement and the statement is: ... [o]ne of identification of a

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